

# Scoping Methods for Evaluating and Computing Future Agricultural Water Needs

Final Report 2014.0596





U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Reclamation Pacific Northwest Region Boise, Idaho

November 2014

#### MISSION OF THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

#### PROTECTING AMERICA'S GREAT OUTDOORS AND POWERING OUR FUTURE

The U.S. Department of the Interior protects America's natural resources and heritage, honors our cultures and tribal communities, and supplies the energy to power our future.

#### MISSION OF THE BUREAU OF RECLAMATION

The mission of the Bureau of Reclamation is to manage, develop, and protect water and related resources in an environmentally and economically sound manner in the interest of the American public.

Cover Photograph: Agriculture and irrigation near Ashton, Idaho. Minidoka Project, Idaho. *Photograph by Dave Walsh.* 

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAG		AGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188	
T1. REPORT DATE	E SEP 2014	T2. REPORT TYPE	Research	1	T3. DATES COVERED
T4. TITLE AND SU Scoping Method	BTITLE s for Evaluating a	and Computing Future	e Agricultural Water	Needs	5a. CONTRACT NUMBER 2014.0596
				ť	5b. GRANT NUMBER
				ť	5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER 1541 (S&T)
6. AUTHOR(S) Jennifer Johnso	n			į	5d. PROJECT NUMBER 596
jmjohnson@usbr.gov 208-378-5225				ť	5e. TASK NUMBER
				•	5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER PN-6216
7. PERFORMING C PN Regional Off U.S. Departmen 1150 N. Curtis F	DRGANIZATION iice t of the Interior, B Rd, Boise, ID 8370	NAME(S) AND ADDI ureau of Reclamatior 06	RESS(ES)	ł	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER
<ul> <li>9. SPONSORING / MONITORING AGENCY NAME(S) AN Research and Development Office U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation PO Box 25007, Denver CO 80225-0007</li> </ul>			n <b>D ADDRESS(ES)</b>	i I I I	10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S) R&D: Research and Development Office BOR/USBR: Bureau of Reclamation DOI: Department of the Interior
				1	11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S) 596
12. DISTRIBUTION Final report can be	downloaded from R	STATEMENT	tps://www.usbr.gov/res	search/	
13. SUPPLEMENTARY	NOTES				
<b>14. ABSTRACT</b> Reclamation is responsible for delivering water to irrigators in 17 western states. In order to meet its mission of delivering water in future years, Reclamation must plan for future conditions. One aspect of this planning is to understand how the demand for water will change in the future and determine ways to predict the potential changes in water demand. Previous studies have used varied methods for predicting future water demand, but all of them ignore the potential for crop distribution to be impacted by future conditions. This scoping level study investigated the possibility of using agent-based models to predict the changes in crop distribution and land use that will impact future agricultural water demand. Previous uses of agent based models indicate that the tools are appropriate for predicting land use change and could be extended to predict crop distribution. A fiscal year 2015 proposal was submitted to the Science and Technology Program to develop an agent based modeling tool to attempt to predict agricultural water demands under climate change projections, using the Boise Valley as a test case. Historical land use, economic, water delivery, and weather data is available to support the study.					
15. SUBJECT TER Agricultural wate	<b>MS</b> er demands, ager	t-based modeling, fut	ture water demands	, climate ch	hange
16. SECURITY CL	ASSIFICATION C		17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT U	18. NUME OF PAGE 23	BER 19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE ES PERSON Jennifer Johnson
	U				303-445-2125

S Standard Form 298	(Rev. 8/98)

P Prescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18

### PEER REVIEW DOCUMENTION

#### **Project and Document Information**

Project Name: Science and Technology Project Number 596 WOID X0596

Document: Scoping Methods for Evaluating and Computing Future Agricultural Water Needs

Document Author(s): Jennifer Johnson, P.E.

Document Date: October 2014

Peer Reviewer: John Roache

#### **Review Certification**

Peer Reviewer: I have reviewed the assigned items/sections noted for the above document and believe them to be in accordance with the project requirements, standards of the profession, and Reclamation policy.

Reviewer:	12he	(Signature)
Date reviewed:	9122/14	

## **Executive Summary**

Reclamation is responsible for delivering water to irrigators in 17 western states. In order to meet its mission of delivering water in future years, Reclamation must plan for future conditions. One aspect of this planning is to understand how the demand for water will change in the future and determine ways to predict the potential changes in water demand. Previous studies have used varied methods for predicting future water demand, but all of them ignore the potential for crop distribution to be impacted by future conditions.

This scoping level study investigated the possibility of using agent-based models to predict the changes in crop distribution and land use that will impact future agricultural water demand. Previous uses of agent based models indicate that the tools are appropriate for predicting land use change and could be extended to predict crop distribution.

As a follow-up to this study, a fiscal year 2015 proposal was submitted to the Science and Technology Program to develop an agent based modeling tool to attempt to predict agricultural water demands under climate change projections, using the Boise Valley as a test case. Historical land use, economic, water delivery, and weather data is available to support the study.

## **Table of Contents**

Report Documentation Page	
Peer Review Documention	
Executive Summary	
Project Summary	1
Goal of the Scoping Study	1
Agricultural Demand Definition	1
Previous Quantification of Agricultural Demands	1
Previous Uses of Agent Based Models	3
Agent Based Modeling Platforms	5
Proposed Work	6
Available Data	6
Possible Uncertainties	7
Conclusions	8
References	9

This page intentionally left blank.

## **Project Summary**

Irrigated agriculture comprises the largest consumptive use of water in the Western United States. Thus, predicting how agricultural water demands will respond to climate change is an essential to understanding how western water resources can be sustainably managed in the future.

### **Goal of the Scoping Study**

This scoping level study was designed to conduct preliminary research to determine if agentbased models can be used to better predict agricultural demands under climate change conditions.

### **Agricultural Demand Definition**

Agricultural demand is a generic term used to describe the amount of water that is needed to irrigate crops for agricultural production. It can be interpreted conservatively to include only the quantity of water necessary for maximum growth potential of a particular crop (excluding conveyance losses), or interpreted to include the total amount of water diverted from a stream, or pumped from an aquifer, (including conveyance losses) and applied to a crop. This study is focused on the conservative interpretation; recognizing that application of these values in water management modeling exercises will require additional work to account for basin infrastructure characteristics.

## Previous Quantification of Agricultural Demands

Agricultural demands have been considered to varying degrees in previous Reclamation studies that attempted to quantify the impacts of climate change on regulated river systems. Approaches have ranged from using demands that represent current conditions, to using estimates that account for the potential change in demands due to projected climatic changes. The following Reclamation studies illustrate the various methods that have been used to date:

• The River Management Joint Operating Committee (RMJOC) Climate Change study in the Pacific Northwest used a pattern of demands representative of wet, median, and dry conditions for the last ten years of record (Reclamation 2011a). Use of conditions-based demand patterns in modeling allows the time series of demand values to change automatically during model runtime in response to changing basin conditions (wet, median, or dry depending on projected inflows and in some cases carry-over storage).

This study essentially extrapolated this functionality, and used the conditions-based demand patterns to estimate the demands that may occur as a result of climate change. This study did not account for potential changes to land use or crop distribution that could occur due to climate change which may significantly alter demand patterns. Modeling the system in this fashion allowed for an estimate of diversion shortages based on current needs; i.e. diversion shortages were quantified given the assumption that demands remained similar to those of the last ten years, while inflows changed due to climatic shifts in temperature and precipitation. Because this study did not account for the changes to demands that are likely to result from climate change impacts on land use and crop distribution, it was therefore limited in its ability to estimate total water availability and delivery as a result of climate change.

- The WaterSMART Basin Studies are intended to evaluate and address the impacts of climate change at a basin scale. Under the Basin Studies, current and future projected supply and demand are evaluated. Various methods were used to quantify projected future agricultural demand in the five basin studies that have been published as of August 2014 (Colorado River, Lower Rio Grande, Milk-St. Mary's, Santa Ana Watershed, and Yakima); ranging from complex land use models to determine possible changes in irrigated acres, to simple estimates of possible percentage increase or decrease in water demands (CWCB 2011; DBSA 2005; DBSA 2008; DWR 2001; MRCOG 2001; Reclamation 2003-2009; Reclamation 2011b; Reclamation 2012a; Reclamation 2012b; Reclamation 2012c; Reclamation 2013a; Reclamation 2013b; RGRWPG 2010; SSPA 2000; TWDB 2012). Although the more complex methods accounted for irrigated lands going into or out of production, only one of the studies accounted for changing crop types due to a changing climate although the methods were not explicitly described (SWWRC 2001). In general, the estimates of future demands in these studies were limited by current estimates of crop distribution and land use, which are likely to adjust with climate change.
- The recently completed, but not published as of August 2014, Hood River Basin Study (Reclamation 2014a) estimated changes in demands by increasing the amount of demand by ten percent per one degree Celsius (°C) increase in temperature. This factor was derived from a study conducted at Oregon State University of Agricultural Sciences on the impacts of climate change on agriculture in Oregon (Coakley et al. 2010). This increase in demands was based only on projected temperature changes and did not account for changes in precipitation. The benefit of this method is that a possibly more accurate estimate of total water supply is attained through the modeling process because some accounting is made for additional water needs. The limitation of this method is that the change to precipitation is not considered in this estimate of demand change and similar to the method used in the RMJOC study, this method assumes that land use and crop distribution remains similar to current conditions.

• The Desert Research Institute and Reclamation developed future irrigation demand estimates for eight major river basins in the Western United States by quantifying the crop water requirement using an evapotranspiration (ET) calculator (Reclamation 2014b). The demand estimates were quantified at the hydrologic unit code eight (HUC 8) scale and assumed current land use and crop distribution. The methodology used in this study was developed to understand, at a very broad scale, the potential for change in demands under three climate projections. Use of a sophisticated ET model enabled this study to account for potential changes in both temperature and precipitation. The limitation of this method lies in its assumption of current land use and crop distribution. Under such an assumption it does not fully account for changes that will likely occur under climate change.

The Idaho Water Resources Board investigated future agricultural and domestic water needs for the Boise Valley in 2010 for the Comprehensive Aquifer Management Plan (CAMP) study (WRIME 2010). Agricultural demands were estimated using an estimate of projected land use and crop distribution in ten year increments through 2060. Crop distribution was projected by scaling current percent distribution of crop types to projected changes in irrigated acres, and then ET was estimated using historical climate data. Total demand was adjusted for estimated conveyance and on-farm losses. No attempt was made at adjusting crop distribution for potential changes in climate and ET was not calculated using projected climate data.

In general, the previous methods used to develop future agricultural demands focus on the physical need for water, but assume the current cropping patterns and water management systems will remain relatively unchanged. Many factors will likely influence demands for agricultural water including economics, legal constraints (water rights), increasing populations, and land use change. The outlook for future agricultural water demands could look drastically different than what currently exists, and yet, the current methods do not account for the factors that would indicate potentially large shifts in demand.

### **Previous Uses of Agent Based Models**

The limitations of the previous methods used to quantify future agricultural demands indicate the need for a more complete method that can account for the various factors influencing irrigator's decisions that result in changes in demand. Agent-based models (ABM) are a type of modeling tool that allows for the quantification of complex interactions between individuals or groups. Unlike standard equation based computational models, they can be programmed with the ability to adapt to influences from changing environments while allowing the individual agents to react to each other, and changes in the physical environment. In that sense, they are seen as tools that can more accurately reflect human decision making processes under various conditions. In addition, they allow for exploration of potential interactions that result from feedback loops and the identification of possible emergent patterns that result from the interactions (Heckbert et al. 2010, Matthews et al. 2007).

Attempts have been made to begin to understand how human decision making processes are impacted by changing environmental factors and vice versa. The fields of land use management and economics have benefitted from the use of ABMs, or Individual-Based Models (IBMs) as they are sometimes called, because both are better understood when decision making processes are included in the analysis, rather than simply focusing on physical or mathematical processes.

In an early application of an ABM for land use change, Rajan and Shibaski (2001) developed a model to explore the rural to urban land use conversion by linking biophysical crop yield, rural income, and urban land use all while being influenced by market, physical, and social factors. Parker et al. (2003) shows that ABMs are appropriate tools to explore land use changes because they more accurately represent complex spatial interactions under heterogeneous conditions. In an applied example, Parker and Meretsky (2004) demonstrate the ability of an ABM platform to link landscape patterns to ecological and socioeconomic factors to explore the conversion of rural to urban lands.

Expansion on the land use conversion models has led to models that include more complex ideas of policy and ecosystem resilience. Over many years and iterations, Balmann (1997), Balmann (et al. 2002), Berger (2001), and Happe (2004), Happe( et al. 2006) developed an ABM platform called AgriPoliS that is used to explore farm policy decisions in Europe (Kellerman et al. 2008). AgriPoliS has been successfully calibrated at the individual farm and aggregate levels and simulated reasonable results to farm policy changes. It incorporated a spatial environment, political environment, behavior of agents, markets, and land markets. However, none of the applications of AgriPoliS appeared to be related to water, likely because all of the applications were in areas that are not water limited. The relationships that link the physical, political, economic, and social changes together in this tool have the potential to become a reasonable foundation for the work in the proposed study, but will require additional work to incorporate the relationship to water.

The ability of an ABM approach to successfully incorporate water-focused relationships was demonstrated in a 2007 study by Shluter and Pahl-Wostl. This study used an ABM approach to explore system resilience in a semi-arid river basin that uses water for aquatic species (fish) and irrigated agriculture. Agents, representing farmers, made decisions on the number of fields to irrigate using their knowledge of water availability and past experience. They supplement their farming income with fishing, which impacts the aquatic ecosystem. Policy decisions were tested in the model to determine the resilience of the ecosystem and the model performed as expected.

Models in general are simplified representations of very complex systems. ABMs attempt to address the complexities in more advanced ways than any other type of modeling tool. Because of this, they can be difficult to calibrate, validate, and verify. In each of the studies that have been included in this paper, there has been some discussion of an attempt at calibration, validation, or verification, but many acknowledge that it is not as straight forward as it might be in a physically based model. Polhill et al. (2008) suggests that in order to attain

increased credibility in the field of modeling, agent-based modelers should follow standardized documentation protocols called Overview, Design concepts, and Design (ODD) to ensure that others can replicate their work and conduct their own validation, if necessary.

### **Agent Based Modeling Platforms**

Another challenge with ABMs is that there are numerous platforms and there is not one accepted, standard method for developing simulation models. A Wikipedia page that compares agent based modeling software lists 84 different modeling platforms (Wikipedia 2014), and there are additional platforms not listed on this page. In an effort to narrow down the selection of modeling platforms for testing, a few high-level criteria were established and include the following: the platform should not have a license fee; it should be able to run in a Microsoft Windows environment; it should also have the ability to integrate with Geographical Information System (GIS) data; and it should be open source. Even after applying these filtering criteria, a large number of possible platforms still remained. A handful of promising platforms from this list were then selected and further evaluated to determine if they might have the capability to simulate the processes required for this project.

Based on these criteria and previous applications, three platforms were selected to carry forward for additional evaluation: Repast, Cormas, and Envision.

- Repast is a free, open-sourced, java based platform that has been used to investigate a wide range of problems including land use change. At first glance, it appears that this platform could have the flexibility to incorporate the methods that will be required in the proposed project. It also appears to have a substantial user community and online reference material that will be useful when developing a new model.
- Cormas is a free platform that uses the SmallTalk language. It has been used for many natural resource agent-based modeling projects in Europe and appears to be flexible for use with external models.
- Envision is a free, open sourced GIS based platform. It has been used for water resource related problems and is currently being explored for use in the Boise Basin.

Given that this is a relatively new method of modeling and there is not one accepted method or tool, these three models will be investigated for use in the proposed project, rather than focusing on one single platform. This will allow for flexibility should one of the platforms not be able to accommodate integration with a particular model or dataset.

## **Proposed Work**

This literature summary showed that current methods for quantifying agricultural water demands ignore important aspects that may be key to determining the amount of water needed in the future: land use change and crop distribution. In an effort to determine how agricultural water demand may be impacted by climate change, a more complete method for determining agricultural water demand is necessary. The literature summary also suggests that agent-based modeling may be a promising tool for accounting for the multiple processes that may lead to an irrigator's decision to irrigate or not to irrigate, and what type of crop he might select for irrigation.

A proposal was submitted to the Science and Technology project for the Fiscal Year 2015 cycle to further investigate this topic. The major tasks include: (1) data collection, (2) conceptual model development, (3) ABM development, (4) scenario evaluation, and (5) documentation and outreach. The Boise Basin will serve as a test location in which to evaluate the developed methods. The Boise Basin was selected for two reasons: (1) it has a large amount of existing data and hydrologic modeling tools, and (2) it has relatively few existing water conflicts when compared with other basins in the west with similar data and modeling resources.

### **Available Data**

A cursory investigation into available data was conducted during this scoping analysis. The list below describes the possible data types that will be needed for this study and the current available sources of this data.

- Historical Crop Distribution Cropland Data Layers are spatially distributed crop types made available by the Natural Agricultural Statistics Service from 1997 through 2013 (USDA 2014b). Prior to 1997, statistics are available by county, though they are not spatially distributed. This data has been used by Reclamation to develop historical cropping patterns for all Reclamation Projects and the results of this work will be made available for this project (Patrick Wright, personal communication, June 2014).
- Water Right Data Water right data are available from Idaho Department of Water Resources (IDWR) by place of use and place of diversion along with priority date and flow rate (IDWR 2014b). Historical data describing the quantity and timing of natural flow and stored water delivered is also available from 1986 through 2014 (IDWR 2014a).
- Weather Data Historical weather (temperature and precipitation) data is available from the National Weather Service (NOAA 2014) and Reclamation's Agrimet Program (Reclamation 2014c).

- Crop Commodity Costs and Returns Current, recent, and historical crop commodity costs and returns are available from the United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service at various spatial resolutions (USDA 2014a). Some of the data are only available at the national scale, but could be related to the types of crops grown in the Boise Basin.
- Climate Change Projections The World Climate Research Programme's (WCRP) Working Group on Coupled Modeling (WGCM) publish downscaled Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP) CMIP3 and CMIP5 climate and hydrology projections through a website hosted by Lawrence Livermore. The climate and hydrology projection datasets are available from 1950 through 2099 (<u>http://gdodcp.ucllnl.org/downscaled\_cmip\_projections</u>) (Reclamation 2013c).
- Demographic and Population Projections The Community Planning Association of South Idaho has population estimates from 1980 through 2014 and has made land use and population projections through 2030.
- Estimates of Agricultural Water Demand Historical and current estimates for agricultural water demand were developed for the Treasure Valley Hydrologic Project (Petrich 2004), the Distributed Parameter Water Budget for the Lower Boise Valley (Reclamation 2008), and for the CAMP study in 2010 (WRIME 2010). Estimates of future demand were also estimated for the CAMP study.

Given that the proposed project aims to better understand the decision making process that irrigators/farmers use to determine crop distribution and land use, it might be worth pointing out that, at this point in time, there is no intention to collect sociological data related to behavior directly. Instead, the goal is to evaluate and learn from historical patterns and attempt to determine if behavioral decisions can be derived from non-sociological data. The results will be verified by comparing them to data and by discussing the results with irrigators/farmers.

Most of the data is available for the past 20 to 30 years, which over time the Boise Basin has experienced considerable population growth and land use change. Although extreme drought/flood conditions have not occurred during that time period, there was variability in the water supply from year to year that may have impacted cropping and land use decisions. Given the changes over the last couple decades and water supply variability, the on-farm decision making processes should become apparent when the data are examined.

### **Possible Uncertainties**

Uncertainty exists in any modeling exercise since models are simplified representations of the real world that can never fully represent the complexity that truly exists. Limitations exist in the mathematical representations of physical processes and the data that is available for the simulations. Although agent-based models attempt to more fully represent the complexity of

reality through their incorporation of behavior based data, they can be difficult to calibrate, verify, and validate particularly when they are used in predictive mode.

In an effort to limit and better understand the modeling uncertainty associated with the agentbased approach, the developed model will be compared to historical data to ensure it is accurately replicating the historical decision making processes and a sensitivity analysis will be conducted to test the reasonableness of the model boundaries.

## Conclusions

The scoping project that was conducted in 2014 was successful in determining that there is a need for a more complete method for evaluating future agricultural water demands. The current methods lack the ability to predict future land use and crop distribution that may result from climate change and that may significantly impact future agricultural water demands.

This project also showed that agent-based modeling could be a viable method for more completely evaluating future agricultural water demands. There is data available in the Boise Basin to begin identifying relationships that might exist between land use, crop distribution, water availability, water rights, commodity prices, and weather.

A proposal was submitted for the FY 2015 proposal cycle to continue this work.

## References

Parenthetical Re	eference Bibliographic Citation
Balmann 1997	Farm-based Modelling of Regional Structural Change: A Cellular Automata Approach. European Review of Agricultural Economics 24: 85-108.
Balmann et al. 2002	Balmann, A., K. Happe, K. Kellermann, and A. Keingern. 2002. "Adjustment costs of agrienvironment policy switchings: an agent-based analysis of the German region Hohenlohe. Complexity and Ecosystem Management: The Theory and Practice of Multi-agent Systems. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, UK, 127-157.
Berger 2001	Berger, T. 2001. Agent-based spatial models applied to agriculture: a simulation tool for technology diffusion, resource use changes and policy analysis. Agricultural Economics 25: 245-260.
Coakley et al. 2010	Coakley, S.M., G.V. Jones, S. Page, and K. D. Dello. 2010. "Climate Change and Agriculture in Oregon." Oregon Climate Assessment Report, edited by K.D. Dello and P.W. Mote Corvallis, Oregon: College of Oceanic and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University. 153-174.
CWCB 2011	Colorado Water Conservation Board. 2011. "Colorado's Water Supply Future: Statewide Water Supply Initiative 2010."
DBSA 2005	Daniel B. Stephens & Associates. 2005. "Southwest New Mexico Regional Water Plan." Prepared for Southwest New Mexico Regional Water Plan Steering Committee, City of Deming, New Mexico, Fiscal Agent. Accepted by New Mexico Interstate Stream Commission. 2005.
DBSA 2008	Daniel B. Stephens & Associates. 2008. "Taos Regional Water Plan." Prepared for Taos Regional Water Planning Steering Committee. Accepted by New Mexico Interstate Stream Commission. 2008.
DWR 2001	Utah Department of Natural Resources, Division of Water Resources. 2001. "Utah's Water Resources Plan for the Future."
Happe 2004	Happe, K. 2004. "Agricultural Policies and Farm Structures: Agent-based Modelling and Application to EU-policy Reform." (Studies on the Agricultural and Food Sector in Central and Eastern Europe, Vol. 30). Institut fur Agrarentwicjlung in Mittel- und Osteuropa (IAMO), Halle, Germany. 291 pgs.

### Parenthetical Reference Bibliographic Citation

Happe et al. 2006	Happe, K., K. Kellermann, A. Balmann. 2006. "Agent-based Analysis of Agricultural Policies: an Illustration of the Agricultural Policy Simulator AgriPoliS, Its Adaptation and Behavoir." Ecology and Society 11(1): 49.
Heckbert et al. 2010	Heckbert, S., T. Baynes, A. Reeson. 2010. "Agent- based modeling in ecological economics." Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1185: 39-53.
IDWR 2014a	Idaho Department of Water Resources. 2014. Water Rights Accounting Database. <u>http://www.idwr.idaho.gov/GeographicInfo/accounting.htm</u>
IDWR 2014b	Idaho Department of Water Resources. 2014. Water Rights Spatial Data. <u>http://www.idwr.idaho.gov/GeographicInfo/GISdata/water_rights.htm</u>
Kellerman et al. 2008	Kellerman, K., K. Happe, C. Sahrbacher, A. Balmann, M. Brady, H. Schnicke, A. Osuch. 2008. AgriPoliS 2.1 – Model documentation. Lbbniz Institute of Agricultural Development in Central and Eastern Europe. October 2008.
Matthews et al. 2007	Matthews, R.B., N.G. Gilbert, A. Roach. 2007. Agent-based land-use models: a review of applications. Landscape Ecology 22: 1447-1459.
MRCOG 2001	Mid Region Council of Governments. 2001. "Future Water Use Projections for the Middle Rio Grande Water Planning Region."
NOAA 2014	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. 2014. National Weather Service: Boise Temperature and Precipitation Records. <u>http://www.wrh.noaa.gov/boi/climo.php</u>
Parker et al. 2003	Parker, D.C., S.M. Manson, M. Janssen, M.J. Hoffman, P.J. Deadman. 2003. "Multi-agent systems for the simulation of land-use and land-cover change: a review." Annals of the Association of American Geographers 93(2): 314- 337.
Parker and Meretsky 2004	Parker, D.C. and V. Meretsky. 2004. "Measuring pattern outcomes in an agent-based model of edge-effect externalities using spatial metrics." Agricultural Ecosystems and Environment 101(2004): 233-250.
Petrich 2004	Petrich, C. 2004. Simulation of Ground Water Flow in the Lower Boise River Basin. Idaho Water Resources Research Institute and the Idaho Department of Water Resources, Research Paper IWRRI-2004-02.

#### Parenthetical Reference

**Bibliographic Citation** 

Rajan and Shibasaki 2001	Rajan, K.S., R. Shibasaki. 2001. "A GIS based integrated land use/cover model to study agricultural and urban land use changes." 22nd Asian Conference on remote Sensing, November 2001, Singapore, Singapore.
Reclamation 2003-2009	Bureau of Reclamation. 2003-2009. "Colorado River Accounting and Water Use Report, Arizona, California, and Nevada."
Reclamation 2011a	Bureau of Reclamation. 2011. "Climate and Hydrology Datasets for Use in the RMJOC Agencies' Longer-Term Planning Studies: Part II – Reservoir Operations Assessment for Reclamation Tributary Basins." Prepared by the Pacific Northwest Regional Office, Boise, ID. January 2011.
Reclamation 2011b	Bureau of Reclamation. 2011. "Yakima River Basin Study: Volume 1 – Proposed Integrated Water Management Plan." Columbia-Cascades Area Office. April 2011.
Reclamation 2012a	Bureau of Reclamation. 2012. "Colorado River Basin Water Supply and Demand Study." Bureau of Reclamation. December 2012.
Reclamation 2012b	Bureau of Reclamation. 2012. "Colorado River Basin Water Supply and Demand Study: Technical Report C – Water Demand Assessment." Bureau of Reclamation. December 2012.
Reclamation 2012c	Bureau of Reclamation. 2012. "St. Mary River and Milk River Basins Study Technical Report." Milk River Project, Montana. March 2012.
Reclamation 2013a	Bureau of Reclamation. 2013. "Climate Change Analysis for the Santa Ana River Watershed: Santa Ana Watershed Basin Study." Lower Colorado Region. August 2013.
Reclamation 2013b	Bureau of Reclamation. 2013. "Lower Rio Grande Basin Study." Denver, CO. December 2013.
Reclamation 2013c	Bureau of Reclamation. 2013. "Downscaled CMIP3 and CMIP5 Climate and Hydrology Projections: Release of Downscaled CMIP5 Climate Projections, Comparison with preceding information, and Summary of User Needs," prepared by the U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, Technical Services Center, Denver, Colorado.
Reclamation 2014a	Bureau of Reclamation. 2014. "Hood River Basin Study: Water Resource Management Model Technical Memorandum." Pacific Northwest Regional

### Parenthetical Reference Bibliographic Citation

Office, Boise, ID. July 2014.

Reclamation 2014b	Bureau of Reclamation. 2014. "West-Wide Climate Risk Assessments: Bias-Corrected and Spatially Downscaled Irrigation Demand and Reservoir Evaporation Projections." Technical Service Center, Denver, CO. September 2014.
Reclamation 2014c	Bureau of Reclamation. 2014. Agrimet Weather Data. http://www.usbr.gov/pn/agrimet/
RGRWPG 2010	Rio Grande Regional Water Planning Group. 2010. "Rio Grande Regional Water Plan." October 2010.
SSPA 2000	S.S. Papadopulos & Associates. 2000. "Middle Rio Grande Water Supply Study."
SWWRC 2001	States West Water Resources Corporation. 2001. "Green River Basin Water Planning Process."
TWDB 2012	Texas Water Development Board. 2012. "2012 Water for Texas State Water Plan." January 2012.
USDA 2014a	United States Department of Agriculture. 2014. Commodity Costs and Returns Data, Current, Recent, and Historical. USDA Economic Research Service. <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/commodity-costs-and-returns.aspx</u>
USDA 2014b	United States Department of Agriculture. 2014. National Agricultural Statistics Service Cropland Data Layer. Available at <a href="http://nassgeodata.gmu.edu/CropScape/">http://nassgeodata.gmu.edu/CropScape/</a> . USDA-NASS, Washington, DC.
WRIME 2010	WRIME. 2010. "Treasure Valley Future Water Demand." Prepared for the Idaho Water Resources Board. November 16, 2010.
Wikipedia 2014	Wikipedia. 2014. Comparison of agent-based modeling software. Accessed 8/27/2014. <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Comparison_of_agent-based_modeling_software</u>